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RFP for the establishment of Long Term Agreement (2 years) for Facilitation 
Services 

 
As indicated in the RFP, section 4.6 Communication during the RFP Period- “ a 
prospective bidder requiring any clarification on technical, contractual or commercial 
matters may notify UNAIDS via e-mail at the following address not later than 10 May 
2010.”  
 
The following is a list of questions raised by prospective bidders followed by responses 
provided by UNAIDS. The questions listed are in no particular order and there is some 
overlap in responses given that some common questions were raised by different 
bidders. All questions received before the 10th of May have been included in the 
following list. 
 

1. Paragraph 4.4     
Question: Can we give a 200-300 word description on each of the four types of 
meetings/events? 
Question: Is there any absolute word limit on proposals?  
Question: Can we submit additional material such as CV or other statements?   
 
Question 1: yes 
Question 2: no 
Question 3: yes, as required under 4.14.2 

2. Can the Financial proposal be costed in UK Sterling (as seems to be suggested in 
the RFP) If so, should the dollar amounts in the financial proposal be converted at 
the rate of the day of writing, and is it understood that this is an indicative dollar 
amount? 

 
Financial Proposals can be made in GBP, EUR or any currency where the 
company/individual is registered and this will be the contracting currency. For 
comparison purposes with other offers, all offers will be converted to USD at the official 
United Nations Rate of Exchange on the closing date of the tendering period. 

3. (RFP) It states that ”The Financial Proposal should be submitted in 3 separate 
documents detailing the financial proposal for each one of the activities” yet when I 
see the document called “Financial Proposal Form”, we are requested to enter 
prices for all 3 sections. 

 
Is it necessary to complete and send the Financial Proposal Form as it has been 
given to us? 

 
Is it necessary to create 3 separate proposal documents in addition to the common 
Financial Proposal Form? 

 
Thank you for pointing out this mistake regarding the Financial Proposal Form. 
  
For each section a separate financial offer has to be made in separate email since 
UNAIDS will only open the financial offers of qualified bidders.  The template incorrectly 
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stated that all 3 components can be proposed in the same document. Corrected 
documents have now been posted on the UNAIDS Internet: 
http://www.unaids.org/en/AboutUNAIDS/RFP/RFP+for+the+provision+of+facilitation+se
rvices+for+UNAIDS.asp 

4. Do we have to submit a Technical proposal showing the methodology and attaching 
CVs of our consultants? Please advise. 

 
As stated in the main document "RFP for the provision of facilitation services for 
UNAIDS" under paragraph 4.14.2, the technical proposal must contain the 
methodology and the CVs of the consultants involved in the selected service. 

5. I would like to clarify the deadlines and subsequent documents for the RFP.  There 
are two dates for deadline - May 10th and May 28.  The May 10th deadline is for 
the CONFIRMATION OF THE INTENTION TO BID (section 4.2) and the other 
deadline of May 28th is the actual PROPOSAL Submission (section 4.10).  Both 
deadlines deliverables indicate that there are documents to be filled out and 
submitted. However, I have only found 2 UNAIDS documents that can  be 
completed for submission. Is the CONFIRMATION OF THE INTENTION TO BID a 
simple e-mail or is there an official document that needs to be submitted. 

  
No specific format is required for the intention to bid. Please, simply send me an email 
to confirm your intention to bid by 10 May 2010. 
Use the Proposal Submission and Acceptance Form only when submitting your 
proposal by 28 May 2010. 

6. We understand that by 10 May we should complete and submit our "intention to 
bid" to UNAIDS.  Can you please advise on the specific form to be used to this 
purpose as I could not find it the RFP documents? 

 
No specific format is required for the intention to bid. Please, simply send me an email 
to confirm your intention to bid by 10 May 2010. 
Use the Proposal Submission and Acceptance Form only when submitting your 
proposal by 28 May 2010. 

7. Reading point 3.1.1. of the proposal, we were not clear whether UN organizations 
as such are excluded from participating in the bid. The document only refers to 
individuals employed by UN System organizations. 

 
Sorry if our point is not clear. I want to clarify that UN Organizations can participate in 
the bidding. 

8. Paragraph 2.2 Scope of services:   The proposal mentions an 
estimated commitment of up to 60 days a year -- does this 60 days include 
preparation time for assignments and training courses, or is it 60 days of 
implementation plus X days for preparation. 

 
During the contractual period, the maximum number of days that is expected as 
commitment from the provider of the facilitation services is 60 days. The total number 
of actual days spent in preparation or design of the sessions would depend on the 
nature of the project and is likely to vary from one project to the next. Hence the 60 
days would include the total time the provider needs to facilitate one or several events, 
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and whatever time is required in context of consultations, development work etc., for 
the event.   

9. Paragraph 4.14.3 Financial Proposal:  In a similar vein, should the financial bids 
rate per day include preparation, or assume a number of days for the assignment 
plus days for preparation -- e.g.  If it were a 3-day course, $X per day to include 
preparation, i.e. $X x 3, or for example, $X x 6, i.e. three days course plus 3 days 
preparation. 

 
As stated in response to question 1, the number of days for preparation cannot be 
predicted and will vary and change according to the needs of the project. Hence it is 
advisable that the provider should propose a consultancy rate/day and where the 
preparation and facilitation rates vary please include the two different rates in the 
financial proposal form. 

10. Will the lack of extensive international experience fatally floor any proposal from 
me?   

‘Extensive international experience’ is included as a functional requirement and would 
be considered an advantage during assessment of the proposals.  However please 
note that there are several components to this RFP and your services may be deemed 
appropriate for some of the specific events (eg: Training of Facilitators or Training of 
Trainers). 

11. Do you want referees included in the proposal ……..?  
 
You may include referees in your proposal from either the UN or any other organization 
that you think is appropriate for your proposal. 

12. Are you looking for firm that can provide full service on all three areas or would you 
consider a bid that only offers services in your first area, facilitation of meetings and 
events?  We meet your minimum requirements for that stream of service. 
 

There are several components to this RFP and you can bid for any of the areas where 
you think your services best fit the requested profile. 

13. What are the requirements for a suitable individual applicant?  
 

The requirements stated in the RFP apply to all bidders regardless of whether you are 
an individual applicant or any other entity. 

14. What is the area of focus with regards to training of trainers and  training of 
facilitators? 
 

Please refer to section 2.2- Scope of Services, for information on the two areas. The 
difference between the two areas is that while the former addresses learning and 
training events with a focus primarily on participant development, the latter is purely to 
manage group processes to achieve some intended results. 

15. On the financial proposal, are 2 line items.  Should the proposal reflect expenses 
such transport, accommodation telephone expenses etc? 
 

No the proposal should reflect only the consultancy fee per day. The standard per diem 
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rates paid to UNAIDS consultants will cover accommodation, telephone or local 
commute in the place of assignment. Costs incurred for travel to the place of 
assignment from the place of residence will be factored into the contract and will be 
budgeted at economy fare tickets. 

16. The proposal is addressed for Switzerland where does the training take place ( I am 
based in South Africa)? 
 

Please refer to section 2.2- Scope of Services-  
 Facilitation of meetings and events- UNAIDS Secretariat HQ in Geneva, 

liaison offices, regional or country offices (which includes offices in Africa) 
 Training of Facilitators/Training of Trainers- At UNAIDS HQ in Geneva 

17. Please confirm if a bidder could include a UNAIDS employee as part of their bid 
who is retiring in 2010 and with whom the bidder has been previously discussing 
employment options with for after his/her UNAIDS retirement.  This employee would 
not have been involved in the development of the RFP.  
 

Yes, a UNAIDS employee can be included as part of your bid as long as the delivery of 
services do not overlap with the staff member’s employment status. 
 
Response clarified and resend to the potential bidder 
 
Yes, a UNAIDS employee can be included as part of your bid as long as the delivery of 
services to UNAIDS is after a break of at least four months between the date of 
retirement and the date of re-employment of the retired staff member (includes 
reemployment as a consultant to UNAIDS). 

18. Functional Requirements Per Activity, pg. 5:  Please clarify what UNAIDS means by 
A Certification in Adult Education (or equivalent).   Please specify what would be 
considered “equivalents” to this “Certification”?  
 

This includes any degree or certification which involves the practice of teaching and 
educating adults. Practices which are included in 'Training and Development' functions 
in organizations and address learning for personal/professional development. Some of 
the equivalent subjects would include a degree in organizational behaviour, Training, 
Coaching, NLP, Instructional design, etc. 

19. 2.2 Scope of Services, pgs. 3-5:  Taking into account potential participants’ 
workloads and other time commitments, can UNAIDS advise as to an appropriate 
or desired length for the training the facilitators/ trainers workshops?  
 

Will depend on the group and context of the proposal and to the discretion of the 
consultant based on what is considered the optimal number of days essential to build 
among participants the necessary skills and knowledge essential to deliver effectively 
and independently as facilitators/trainers.  Since the workshops will be scheduled in 
advance, staff members will be able to plan for their participation in the workshops, for 
the necessary number of days, while taking into account their workload.  

20. Financial Proposal Form: Please advise if the bidder can propose different rates for 
each scope of services category? For example, could the bidder propose a day rate 
for the design/development of the facilitator workshop and then a different rate for 
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its facilitation? Similarly, could the facilitator propose one day rate for the 
consultation and design of a meeting/event, and then a different rate for the 
meeting/event’s actual facilitation?  
 

 Yes. As stated in a previous response, if your rates vary for the design/development 
and actual delivery for any of the areas for which proposals have been requested, 
please include them as separate costs in your financial proposal. 

21. Financial Proposal Form:  Please confirm if the bidder would be responsible for any 
development and production of materials to support Facilitation of Meetings and 
Events.  And, if so, should this cost be included in the price  per day?  
 

Costs related to the development of material to support facilitation of meetings and 
events, as part of the development and design of the event, needs to be included in the 
consultancy rate per day. Please include this as a separate price per day component if 
it differs from  the actual delivery cost of the event. 

 
Cost for production of materials to support facilitation of meetings is difficult to predict at 
this stage and hence should not be included in the price per day costs. This will be 
factored in when necessary.  

22. Please confirm that submissions via email are desired as PDF documents.  
 
Confirmed 

23. Please confirm that the due date of the proposal is 28 May.  
 
Confirmed. No later than 28 May, 17.00 Geneva time. 

24. Please confirm if UNAIDS has a specific font type and size that they would like the 
bidder to use throughout the technical and financial proposals.  
 

The RFP does not specify the requirement of any specific font size or type. Care needs 
to be however taken that the font size/type used is comprehensible.  

25. Please confirm if there is a page limit for the technical proposal.  And, if so, does 
this page limit include CVs, sample agendas, and sample materials as requested?  
 

No page limits for the technical proposal. 

26. 4.14.2 Technical Proposal, pg. 9:  Please clarify what UNAIDS would like to see as 
a response to describe: Content and Process; and Style  
 

Content and Process and Style:  Process includes how the content will be delivered, 
the structure/framework to follow and what will be the measures incorporated to assess 
that the workshop has achieved its learning objectives. While style relates to the 
techniques which the trainers would be using for delivery. 

27. 4.14.2 Technical Proposal, pg. 9:  Please describe what types of materials would 
satisfy the requirement to provide “sample materials used” for Training of 
Facilitators/Trainers activities.   
 

Sample materials could include excerpts from the participant handbooks which you 
intend to use in the proposed workshops. They might include exercises/questionnaires 
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etc that will be used to facilitate learning in the workshops, handouts which underline 
the key messages of the training sessions and other reading material intended for 
workshop participants. 

28. 2.2 Scope of Services, pgs. 3-5:  Please provide an estimate for the average 
number of participants at and average number of days per UNAIDS Meeting/Event.  

 
The average number of days for a meeting/event is likely to vary depending on the type 
of event, hence difficult to predict. However the RFP in this section requests a 
commitment for a maximum of 60 days per year. Your services will not exceed this 
period. The average number of participants is also fairly flexible and may range 
between 15 to over 50 participants depending on the nature of the event. For larger 
events additional preparation days and additional facilitators maybe factored in. 

29. 2.2 Scope of Services, pgs. 3-5:  Will UNAIDS be responsible for securing training 
and meeting spaces for all activities as described in the scope of services?  
 

Yes 

30. It looks like the Technical and Financial proposals are to be delivered electronically 
to you using the e-mail address accounts you have specified. Is this correct or do 
you also expect the proposal to be submitted by mail? If the proposals are to be 
submitted electronically, how do we submit them with an original signature 
(specifically I am referring to page 10 paragraph 5.3)? 
 

Yes the technical and Financial proposals need to be submitted electronically to the 
two registered e-mail addresses (section 4.8), no later than 28 May, 15.00 Geneva 
time. Please scan the pages that require signature and send as PDF documents. 

31. Paragraph 2.2 Scope of Services Item 1 Facilitation of meetings and events: Can 
you give us an idea about how many participants might be in these facilitated 
meetings/events?   

 
The average number of participants may range between 15 to over 50 participants 
depending on the nature of the event.  

32. Relative to Section 2.2 Scope of Services #3 Training of Trainers (page 4) can you 
please advise us about the types of adult audiences (general public, local 
organizers, public health officials, or others) who would be attending the "learning 
events," and what content areas might be incorporated into those events? 

 
The audience for the workshops on ‘Training for Trainers’ which will be delivered by the 
consultants will have only UNAIDS Secretariat staff members as participants. The 
broad learning objectives are what has been specified in 2.2- Scope of Services and 
should influence the workshop content.  

33. Relative to Section 2.2 Scope of Services #2 Training of Facilitators (page 4) can 
you please advise us about the types of meetings (subject matter) the UNAIDS 
facilitators will be facilitating? 
 

The type of meetings will vary depending on whether it is to brainstorm on issues, to 
solve some problems, make changes or finalize operational/strategic decisions. The 
participants for these meetings could be a cross section of UNAIDS Secretariat staff, a 
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department, a regional office with staff from various country offices and/or with 
stakeholders/clients. So the objective of the workshop would be to provide an 
opportunity for the participants to acquire the whole range of skills for effective 
facilitation, and the flexibility to use these skills to facilitate different types of 
meetings/events.    

34. Relative to the Training of Trainers (page 4; Section 2.2 item 3 Training of 
Trainers), can you indicate the level of training you wish the contractor to provide 
(e.g. beginner; intermediate; and or advanced)? Will the participants in these 
trainings be experienced trainers? Can you provide some indication as to the range 
of learning styles you believe would be involved? 
 

The response to this question is the same as above. 

35. Relative to the Training of Facilitators (page 4; Section 2.2 item 2 Training of 
Facilitators), can you indicate the level of training you wish the contractor to provide 
(e.g. beginner; intermediate; and or advanced)? Can you provide some indication 
as to the range of learning styles you believe would be involved? 
 

The level of training will vary depending on the project and the participant profile. Some 
of the staff have had considerable experience in facilitation/training while others maybe 
beginners. The techniques that will be used to appeal to a broad spectrum of learning 
styles is left to the discretion of the providers. The expectation is that there is an 
optimal mix of delivery styles to ensure the workshop reaches out and appeals to a 
broad and diverse section of participants for maximum impact. 

36. With regard to Section 3 (page 5) Functional Requirements Per Activity (Training of 
Facilitators and Training of Trainers) can you clarify what you might consider "or 
equivalent" relative to "a Certification in Adult Education." Our team is comprised of 
individuals with post graduate degrees and extensive, long term experience in 
facilitation and teaching and learning. Might post graduate work and degrees 
coupled with extensive years of experience in facilitation, adult teaching and 
learning, substitute for a "Certification in Adult Education?" 
 

This includes any degree or certification which involves the practice of teaching and 
educating adults. Practices which are included in 'Training and Development' functions 
in organizations and address learning for personal/professional development. Some of 
the equivalent subjects would include a degree in organizational behaviour, Training, 
Coaching, NLP, Instructional design, etc. So yes what you have specified as 
qualifications and experience of your team members will qualify under this criteria. 

37. Is any further information available about the types of meetings that would require 
facilitation and the level of personnel who would be involved? Could we for example 
expect meetings at a variety of levels from senior staff in UNAIDS and partners 
through to middle managers or a mix of the two?  
 

The type of meetings/events is going to vary and hence participant profiles are also 
going to vary depending on the nature of these meetings/events. The meetings/events 
might simply include staff members (could be a cross-section or of a specific level) from 
the UNAIDS Secretariat, and/or partners and stakeholders outside of the Secretariat. 
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38. Is the requirement for a Certification in Adult Learning ( or equivalent) an absolute 
requirement?  For instance, we have several consultants/ faculty who are faculty on 
our Masters and Doctorate in Organisation Consulting and open programme 
Partnering and Consulting in Change and who have years of experience of 
teaching  group facilitation and design and delivery of adult learning interventions 
and consulting to a wide range of clients in these issues.  They will have a variety of 
qualifications such as Masters degrees and Doctorates in relevant 
specialisms,  psychotherapy qualifications, specific training in techniques such as 
dialogue and more. These are not technically certificates in Adult Learning but 
ideally we would wish to put them forward as potential faculty because of the  depth 
of experience  they bring.  Will the submission of this type of faculty be acceptable 
in this proposal?  

 
Yes. The qualifications/experience you mention will be acceptable in this proposal. 

39. Is any further information available on the anticipated audiences for  Training of 
facilitators and Training the Trainers. Are they likely to be members of the learning 
and development community or wider and at what levels in the organisation.  
 

The participants for either of these workshops will not necessarily be members of the 
Learning and development community. The workshops are going to be need based and 
a service that will be provided for all UNAIDS staff, hence it is difficult to predict at this 
point what level or from what functions we will draw participants for these workshops. 
What can be definitely stated is that participants for these workshops either currently 
play a key role, or are seen as potentially playing a key role in facilitation and training 
functions. 

40. Do you require a bid for all three elements or is it possible to bid for one or two 
elements? 

 
You may bid for any one or for all three of the elements in the RFP.   

41. Is the intention to award all three lots to a single individual, organisation or consortia 
or is it possible that different organisations may be appointed to different 
elements  and/ or more than one organisation appointed for a particular element? 

 
Yes. Each of these possibilities are likely 

42. Paragraph 4.4: Regarding the financial proposal, the RFP requests that bidders use 
the template for “detailing the financial proposal.” Given that the template asks only 
for the daily rate and cost of material per participant, are those the only two details 
requested for the financial proposal? Or are you hoping to see greater detail than 
this (e.g. a spreadsheet offering a breakdown of rate) and justification? 

 
In context of the RFP we expect the providers to provide us, at the very minimum what 
is specified in the Financial Proposal Form.  Any additional breakdown/information is 
always helpful.   
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43. Paragraph 4.4 (and 4.14.2): Regarding the format of the technical proposal, section 
4.4 indicates that the document should be split into three sections and that “the 
approach for each should be described separately.” Should the background 
information and other technical information (described in 4.14.2) also be repeated in 
each of the three sections? Essentially, should the format be presented in the 
following manner? 

  
A. Facilitation of meetings and events  

a. Background information  
b. Technical information  

B. Training of Facilitators  
a. Background information  
b. Technical information  

C. Training of Trainers  
a. Background information  
b. Technical information  

  
Or, would you prefer the material to be presented in the following manner? 
  

A. Background information  
B. Technical information  

a. Understanding of UNAIDS’ needs  
b. Background and experience of professional  
c. CV  

                                                               i.      Facilitation of meetings and events 
1.       Approach 
2.       Methodologies 

                                                             ii.      Training of Facilitators 
1.       Approach 
2.       Methodologies 
3.       Sample agenda, content, style, outcomes, material 

                                                            iii.      Training of Trainers 
1.       Approach 
2.       Methodologies 
3.       Sample agenda, content, style, outcomes, material 
 

Either of these two options work for us. If you feel the content is similar, please use the 
second option. We would like to see the link between what you have experience in, 
what is your understanding of UNAIDS needs and how this is addressed in your 
proposal in each of the specific areas. 

44. Paragraph 5.1: Will we receive confirmation that our application and intention to bid 
has been received? If not, is it permissible to write to andriamialisona@unaids.org 
to confirm receipt? (I only ask because I know that sometimes my e-mails have 
been immediately directed to junk or spam folders and are then lost.)  

 
You must have already received a confirmation from Aurelie in response to your 
intention to bid. 

45. Paragraph 4.14.2: For the Training of Facilitators/Trainers, how much of the sample 
training/workshop content should be included? Are you expecting to see the entire 
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content of the training or simply an overview? I know that for the Facilitation of 
Meetings and Events it is recommended that the description include approximately 
200-300 words. Is there a recommendation for the number of words or pages when 
describing the content for the Training of Facilitators/Trainers? 
  

No there are no recommendations from UNAIDS on this. We leave it to your discretion. 

46. Paragraph 4.4: Regarding the financial proposal forms for the Training of 
Facilitators/Trainers, the costs of material per participant can greatly vary 
depending on which training is being delivered and which resources are to be 
provided. Is it therefore permissible to simply indicate “cost varies” in this box?  

 
You are expected to provide separate material costs for the two workshops. 
Assessment of the financial proposals will be based on clarity and relevance of 
information provided  by the bidders as defined in the financial proposal form. 
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